IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 72,316

HOWARD M. ZEIDWIG, ESQUIRE,

### and

HOWARD M. ZEIDWIG, P.A.

Petitioners

v.

SID J. S

JOSEPH WARD Respondent By\_\_\_\_\_\_\_ Deputy Clerk

#### PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Submitted by:

Melanie G. May, Esquire BUNNELL & WOULFE, P.A. 1080 S.E. 3rd Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316 (305) 761-8600

###

-iii-

\_\_\_\_\_

### OUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. WHETHER THE MUTUALITY OF PARTIES REQUIREMENT SHOULD BE ABANDONED WHEN THE DOCTRINE OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL IS USED IN A DEFENSIVE CONTEXT?

2. WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF IS COLLATERALLY ESTOPPED FROM LITIGATING ISSUES DETERMINED IN A PRIOR HABEAS CORPUS PROCEEDING?

3. WHETHER THE DEFENDANTS ARE IMMUNE FROM LIABILITY FOR TACTICAL DECISIONS UNDER THE "ERROR-IN-JUDGMENT" RULE?

4. WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF'S INABILITY TO PROVE HIS CASE WARRANTED THE ENTRY OF FINAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

-iv-

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE & FACTS

The "identity of parties" prerequisite to the application of collateral estoppel provides the premier legal issue in this appeal. The "defensive use" of collateral estoppel, the immunity afforded lawyers under the error-in-judgment rule, and the rules of evidence regarding hearsay, provide the framework to address the issue. The plaintiff/respondent, Joseph Ward filed a legal malpractice action against the defendants/petitioners, Howard M. Zeidwig, Esq. and his P.A. The trial court granted a summary judgment in favor of the defendants on three grounds: (1) the plaintiff's claim was barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel; (2) the defendants were immune from liability under the "error-in-judgment" rule; and (3) the plaintiff was unable to meet the burden of proof to sustain his claim.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the summary judgment. Although the Fourth District appeared to agree with the defendants' position regarding the use of collateral estoppel in this context, it felt compelled to reverse under this Court's decision in <u>Trucking Employees of North Jersev Welfare Fund, Inc.</u> <u>V. Romano</u>, 450 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1984). The Fourth District then certified the following question to be of great public importance:

> Whether identity of parties or their privies continues to be a prerequisite in Florida to application of the doctrine of collateral estoppel?

<u>See Ward v. Zeidwig</u>, 521 So.2d 215, 219 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).

-1-

From this decision, the defendants filed their petition to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

The professional negligence action emanated from the defendant, Howard M. Zeidwig's representation of the plaintiff, Joseph Ward, in a drug-related criminal matter in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Alabama. Ward had claimed in his defense that he was working "undercover". A jury twice convicted him. (R. 1-8). The first conviction was reversed on a severance issue and remanded for a new trial. (R. 4). He was convicted again in the second trial. (R. 4). The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the second conviction. (R. 5).

### The Habeas Corpus Proceeding

Subsequently, Joseph Ward filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Southern District of Alabama. (R. 3-5). In his petition, Ward claimed a denial of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. He alleged that his attorney, Howard Zeidwig, had failed to listen to and/or introduce into evidence "a tape recording of a September 21, 1978, conversation with DEA Agent, David Hoyt, which would have allegedly exonerated Ward." (See Order on Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus; R. 547; App. at 1).

The United States District Court held an evidentiary hearing on Ward's petition. (R. 547). During the proceeding, Ward claimed that he had tape recorded a number of telephone conversations, including a conversation on September 21, 1978,

-2-

with DEA Agent Hoyt. (R. 533). Ward testified that Zeidwig had advised him the tapes were illegally obtained and could not be admitted in court. (R. 533-54). Ward further claimed that Zeidwig had told him the illegal tapes could result in multiple five-year prosecutions and that his bond would be revoked for possession of the tapes. (R. 533). He claimed that Zeidwig told him to destroy the tapes. (R. 554).

Three witnesses submitted affidavits in support of Ward's petition. (R. 155-69). Jerry Pickett, who had testified at Ward's criminal trials, attested that he had been present when Ward called DEA Agent Hoyt and that he had listened to Ward's tape of the conversation. (R. 168-69). In the conversation, Ward had mentioned the plane's call numbers and the names Metzger, Travis, Paul, Meacham, Gilroy, and Van Veenendahl. (R. 168-69).

A second witness, Gene Dodge, who had also testified at the criminal trials, stated that he had listened to the tape recording sometime in late September, **1978.** (R. 165-67). He recalled that Ward had mentioned a marijuana deal, going to Columbia, a DC-3 aircraft and call numbers, and that the plane would land in Georgia. (R. 165-67). He also recalled the mentioning of certain names.

The third witness, Donald Schultz, stated that he had heard the tape recording in the latter part of September, **1978**. (R. **157-64**). Schultz only recalled the name Van Veenendahl, a

-3-

Texas airplane and its call numbers, something about Georgia, and a father and son being involved. (R. 157-64).

During the proceeding, Zeidwig testified by deposition. He knew about the alleged September 21, **1978**, tape, but considered it unnecessary to the defense of the case. (R. **554**). Zeidwig was told there were transcripts of conversations between Ward and Hoyt, which DEA Agent Hoyt had recorded. (R. **554**). Zeidwig further testified that during the course of the trial, Ward requested Zeidwig to introduce the alleged tape of September 21, **1978**, but Zeidwig decided against it. (R. **554**).

In Zeidwig's opinion, admitting the tape would have hurt Ward's case. (R. 554). First, Ward's taping of the conversation with DEA Agent Hoyt would appear foolish. (R. 554). Second, it presented a problem in overcoming Ward's failure to report his activities from late August to October 10, 1978. (R. 554). And, Pickett and Ward could testify to the same information that the tape allegedly contained. (R. 554).

The District Court discredited Ward's testimony and made the following findings of fact:

- (1) Ward had not informed the DEA agent of the details of the smuggling operation;
- (2) The tape recording would have substantiated DEA Agent Hoyt's version of the conversation, not Ward's;
- (3) Any conversation containing details of the smuggling operation took place after September 21, 1978;
- (4) At Ward's second trial, Pickett could not remember whether he had been present on September 21, 1978, or October, 1978;

- (5) Dodge had no personal knowledge as to the date of the alleged conversation;
- (6) Schultz had no personal knowledge of the specific date of the conversation;
- (7) Any taped conversation heard by Pickett, Dodge, or Schultz would have occurred after September 21, 1978;
- (8) Ward had not acted under the authority of the Fort Lauderdale Police Department or the DEA;
- (9) Zeidwig advised Ward that he may have violated Florida Statute §934;
- (10) Zeidwig never advised Ward the tape was
   inadmissible in court;
- (11) Zeidwig never advised Ward that it was a crime to play the tapes;
- (12) Zeidwig never advised Ward to destroy
  the tape;
- (14) Zeidwig made a tactical decision not to use the tape during the second trial.

### (R. 555-56; App. at 9-10).

The U.S. District Court specifically found that Zeidwig's performance was **not** deficient. (R. 557). The court found Zeidwig's decision was a tactical trial decision based on the possible negative consequences of admitting the tape. "It was entirely professionally reasonable for Zeidwig to forego introducing the September 21 tape into evidence because it could have harmed his client." (See Order at Page 12; R. 558; App. at 12).

The U.S. District Court further concluded that the decision not to admit the tape did not prejudice Ward. (R. 557; App. at 12). "It would be incredible for any juror to accept Ward's undercover defense in light of his testimony during cross-examination and his total failure to keep law enforcement agencies abreast of his activities. The record overwhelmingly established Ward's guilt." (R. 559; App. at 13). The court denied Ward's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

### The Negligence Claim

Ward subsequently filed the present civil complaint. (R. 1-8). The complaint alleged that Zeidwig had failed to: adequately investigate the facts, adequately research the applicable law, render competent evidence, properly evaluate and appreciate the evidentiary significance of the tape recording, and allow the plaintiff to make "the important decisions which should have the most profound effect" on the plaintiff's future. (R. 1-8). The defendants denied these allegations and filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.510(b). (R. 75-80; 118-19).

The motion set forth the substantial matters of law to be argued. (R. 118-19). First, the issues concerning the tape recording had been fully litigated by Ward in the prior habeas corpus proceeding and he should be collaterally estopped from relitigating them. Second, Zeidwig's decision concerning the tape recording was an immunized tactical decision. Third, without the

-6-

tape, the plaintiff could not establish his case. (The fourth issue was withdrawn at the hearing.)

The trial court conducted a lengthy hearing on the Each side presented memorandum of law and a number of motion. evidentiary exhibits. After reviewing the pleadings, memoranda, and exhibits, the trial court made the following rulings. The court held that Ward should not be permitted to re-litigate the same facts against the attorney, whose representation formed the basis of the habeas corpus proceeding. Second, the court held that the alleged error in the tactical decision not to introduce the tape could not form the basis of liability. Third, the court held that the testimony to be proffered at trial would constitute inadmissible hearsay. Without the testimony, the plaintiff could not sustain his burden of proof. Based upon these rulings, the trial court entered summary judgment in favor of the defendants. (R. 560-62). From this summary judgment, the plaintiff appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

The Fourth District Court reluctantly reversed and remanded. It found that this Court's opinion in <u>Trucking</u> <u>Employees of North Jersey Welfare Fund, Inc. v. Romano</u>, 450 So.2d 843 (Fla. 1984) mandated compliance with the prerequisite of mutuality of parties before the doctrine of collateral estoppel could be applied. <u>Ward v. Zeidwig</u>, 521 So.2d 215 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). The court emphasized, however, that it felt **"compelled"** to follow <u>Romano</u> despite its "preferences in the matter". <u>Id</u>. at 219. The Fourth District expressed concern over allowing the

-7-

plaintiff yet a <u>fourth</u> opportunity to attempt to prove his innocence. The Fourth District certified the question to this Court. It did not address the two additional bases upon which the trial court had entered summary judgment. Petitioner now seeks this Court's review of the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

"Defensive" collateral estoppel and the requirement of "mutuality of parties" form the foundation of this appeal. Florida has continued to adhere to the "mutuality of parties" requirement before the doctrine of collateral estoppel may be applied. Courts across the nation have recognized the absence of "satisfactory rationalization" for maintaining this prerequisite. <u>Ward v. Zeidwiq</u>, 521 So.2d 215, 219 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Florida should join this growing trend and abandon the requirement.

The facts litigated in the habeas corpus proceeding are identical to the facts forming the basis of the plaintiff's complaint. At least three courts have found the legal issues to be equivalent. The plaintiff had a full opportunity to litigate the facts in the habeas corpus proceeding. He should be estopped from re-litigating them in the present case.

At least one Florida decision has addressed the significance of an order on a petition for writ of habeas corpus. An order in a habeas corpus proceeding is "res judicata of all issues of law and facts involved." <u>Freeman V. Rubin</u>, 318 So. 2d 540, 543 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). Relying on this authority, the trial court properly entered summary judgment in favor of the defendants.

The **"error-in-judgment"** rule provided a secondary basis for entry of final summary judgment. In the habeas corpus proceeding, the United States District Court found that the defendant's decision not to use the alleged tape recording

-9-

constituted a "tactical decision." Lawyers are immune from liability for "tactical decisions." Appleqate v. Dobrovir, Oakes & Gebhardt, 628 F. Supp. 378 (D.D.C. Dec. 2, 1985), aff'd, 809 F. 2d 1245 (D.C.Cir. 1987), cert. denied, 107 S. Ct. 2181 (1987). Because an attorney cannot guarantee the soundness of his opinion, he cannot be liable for every alleged mistake in judgment he may make in his practice. Applying collateral estoppel and relying on the United States District Court's finding that the decision not to introduce the tape was tactical, the defendant is immune from liability.

Hearsay and its application to the admissibility of testimony to support the plaintiff's case served as the third basis for entry of summary judgment. Because the plaintiff's witnesses would be unable to corroborate the date of making the alleged tape and its contents, the plaintiff would be unable to sustain his burden of proof. A party moving for summary judgment should prevail if he can show "conclusively that the plaintiff is unable to present requisite proof of the negligence charged in the pleadings...." <u>Holl v. Talcott</u>, **191** So. 2d **40**, **47-48** (Fla. **1966)**. The plaintiff would have been unable to present requisite proof of the allegations of negligence. Therefore, summary judgment was properly entered. The Fourth District's opinion should be vacated and the trial **court's** summary final judgment should be reinstated.

-10-

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE MUTUALITY OF PARTIES REQUIREMENT SHOULD BE ABANDONED WHEN THE DOCTRINE OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL IS USED IN A DEFENSIVE CONTEXT.
  - A. <u>Policy Considerations Support</u> <u>the Abrogation of the</u> <u>Mutuality of Parties</u> <u>Requirement</u>.

In 1971, the United States Supreme Court recognized the judicial economy which resulted from the use of defensive collateral estoppel. <u>Blonder-Tonque</u> Laboratories, <u>Inc. v. University of Illinois Foundation</u>, 402 U.S. 313 (1971). To effectuate the goal of judicial economy, the Court abandoned the mutuality of parties requirement for the defensive use of collateral estoppel. The Court then applied collateral estoppel defensively to prevent a plaintiff from re-litigating issues concerning the validity of a patent, which had previously been litigated in an action where only the plaintiff had been a party.

In rendering its decision, the United States Supreme Court articulated the policy reasons supporting the abrogation of the mutuality of parties requirement when the doctrine of collateral estoppel was applied defensively. The erosion of the mutuality requirement was connected

> to the goal of limiting re-litigation of issues where that can be achieved without compromising fairness in particular cases. The courts have often discarded the rule while commenting on crowded dockets and long delays preceding trial. The broader question is whether it is any longer tenable

to afford a litigant more than one full and fair opportunity for judicial resolution of the same issue. . . . In any lawsuit where defendant, because of the mutuality а principle, is forced to present a complete defense on the merits to a claim which the plaintiff has fully litigated and lost in a prior action, there is an arguable misallocation of resources. . . . Permitting repeated litigation of the same issue as long as the supply of unrelated defendants hold out reflects either the aura 'of the gaming table or "a lack of discipline and of disinterestedness on the part of the lower courts, hardly a worthy or wise basis for fashioning rules of procedure." Although neither judges, the parties, nor the adversary system performs perfectly in all cases, the requirement of determining whether the party against whom an estoppel is asserted had a full and fair opportunity to litigate is a most significant safeguard.

Id. (citing <u>Kerotest Manufacturing Co. v. C-O-Two Co.</u>, 342 U.S. 180, 185 (1952)). Thus, more than fifteen years ago the United States Supreme Court recognized the significant practical solution to over-crowded dockets afforded by the abandonment of a requirement that served no useful purpose.

Subsequently, in <u>Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore</u>, 439 U.S. 322 (1979), the Court abandoned the mutuality of parties requirement for the "offensive" use of collateral estoppel. The Court delegated to federal judges the responsibility to make an ad hoc determination of whether the requirement should be enforced in a particular case. The Court extensively analyzed the factors to consider in making such a determination and discussed its application in both the "offensive" and "defensive" context.

-12-

The Court found that offensive use did not enhance judicial economy as did defensive use. While defensive use encouraged a plaintiff to join all defendants in one suit, offensive use had the opposite effect.

> Since a plaintiff will be able to rely on a previous judgment against a defendant, but will not be bound by that judgment if the defendant wins, the plaintiff has every incentive to adopt a "wait and see" attitude, in the hope that the first action by another plaintiff will result in favorable а judqment. Thus, offensive use of . . . collateral estoppel will likely increase rather than decrease the total amount of litigation, since potential plaintiffs will have everything to gain and nothing to lose by not intervening in the first action,

439 U.S. at 326.

The Court also recognized concerns existent in the offensive use of collateral estoppel absent a mutuality of parties. If a defendant was sued for a nominal sum in the first action, he may have little incentive to defend the claim if no future claims were foreseeable. The second action, however, might involve a greater sum that the defendant would have more reason to defend vigorously. If the initial judgment against the defendant could be used offensively, it would result in the entry of a large judgment when the defendant did not take advantage of his opportunity to defend the first action.

Furthermore, a subsequent action might provide the defendant with procedural opportunities unavailable in the first suit. It would be unfair to allow the doctrine to be applied offensively in such situations. Because of the potential

-13-

problems that might arise in the offensive use of collateral estoppel, absent a mutuality of parties, the United States Supreme Court held that the federal courts should evaluate the need for complying with the mutuality of parties requirement on an ad hoc basis.

Despite these United States Supreme Court decisions, this Court has been reticent to abrogate the mutuality of parties requirement. <u>See Trucking Employees of North Jersey Welfare</u> <u>Fund, Inc. v. Romano</u>, 450 So. 2d 843 (Fla. 1984). In <u>Romano</u>, this Court acknowledged that the federal courts had abandoned the requirement of mutuality of parties and that other jurisdictions had also receded from that requirement. <u>See, e.g., Bernhard v.</u> <u>Bank of America National Trust & Savings Association</u>, 19 Cal. 2d 807, 122 P.2d 892 (1942). Yet, this Court declined to abandon the requirement.

This Court appeared to restrict its holding to the limited question before it. "The question presented by the district court, however, further limits our inquiry to the use of a criminal conviction as conclusive proof of the facts underlying the conviction in a civil suit arising from those same facts." Id. at 845. The opinion appeared to be limited to offensive use, compounded by an evidentiary concern.

This Court noted that the intended evidentiary use of the conviction in <u>Romano</u> violated established rules of evidence. In the present case, however, admitting the order on the habeas corpus petition is not violative of the Florida Rules of

-14-

Evidence. Indeed, it has been previously recognized that such an order is "res judicata of all issues of law and fact ruled upon in the habeas corpus proceeding." <u>Freeman v. Rubin</u>, 318 So.2d 540, 543 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975).

Florida Courts have recognized the distinction between "offensive" and "defensive" use of collateral estoppel. <u>See</u>, <u>Dudley v. Carroll</u>, 467 So.2d 706 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). Unlike <u>Romano</u>, this case provides this Court with a chance to evaluate the mutuality of parties requirement in a defensive context. This case provides this Court with the perfect opportunity to abandon the archaic requirement and promote judicial economy. The petitioners/defendants respectfully request this Court to abrogate the requirement of mutuality of parties for the defensive use of collateral estoppel.

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