7-2-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

HOWARD M. ZEIDWIG, ESQUIRE and HOWARD M. ZEIDWIG, P.A.,

Petitioners,

vs 🛛

: Č

.

•

JOSEPH WARD,

Respondent.

CASE NO: 72,316	
FILED	
JUL 5 1980	
DETERN COURT By Beputy Clerk	

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MONTGOMERY, SEARCY & DENNEY, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 3626
West Palm Beach, FL 33402
 and
EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A.
Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg.
1615 Forum Place
West Palm Beach, Fl 33401
Tel: (407) 686-8010
Attorneys for Respondent

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

assistance of counsel petition for writ of habeas corpus stating that counsel is "strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment" 104 \$.Ct. at 2066. The Order in the instant habeas proceeding quotes this standard, clearly indicating that this was the federal court's guiding force in reaching its factual determinations.

The STRICKLAND presumption does not exist in this civil malpractice case. Here, Defendants are not entitled to the protection of a strong presumption that adequate assistance was rendered and that all significant decisions were made in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Here, the parties stand as neutrals before the court and jury. Whether a jury in this civil proceeding would reach the same conclusion in the absence of the strong presumption mandated by the Supreme Court in STRICKLAND as to the habeas proceeding is questionable.

The proceeding requires habeas proof of inadequate assistance of counsel by overcoming the strong presumption set out in STRICKLAND, plus proof that this inadequate assistance resulted in an unconstitutional proceeding and result. This malpractice action merely requires proof that absent the negligence of counsel there would have been a reasonable doubt resulting in acquittal. This is clearly not the STRICKLAND standard and not the standard described in the federal order which denied Plaintiff's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. Since no legal presumption exists in this civil suit, there can

be no identity of issues fully litigated and determined therefore, collateral estoppel is inapplicable.

On this issue, and in an analogous situation, the decision in RUMMEL v. ESTELLE, 498 F.Supp. 793 (W.D. Tex. 1980), is relevant. There, the court incorporated the following observations:

> "When a defense counsel fails to investigate his client's only possible defense, although requested to do so by him and fails to subpoena witnesses in support of the defense, it can hardly be said that the defendant has had the effective assistance of counsel." <u>Gomez v. Beto</u>, 462 F.2d 596, 597 (5th Cir. 1972). See also, Caraway v. Beto, 421 F.2d 636 (5th Cir. 1970); Bell v. Georgia, 554 F.2d 1360, 1361 (5th Cir. 1977); Friedman v. United States, 588 F.2d 1010, 1016-17 (5th Cir. 1979). This court need not "indulge in nice calculations as to the amount of prejudice" arising from ineffective Brown v. Blackburn, 625 F.2d 35 assistance. at 36 (5th Cir, 1980), quoting <u>Glasser v.</u> United States, 315 U.S. 60, 76, 62 S.Ct. 457, 467, 86 L.Ed, 680 (1942). Suffice it to say that in this factual setting, the court can only find that the total failure of Rummel's lawyer to contact any potential witnesses and to even attempt to investigate the case, prejudiced Rummel enough to require a new Brown V. Blackburn, supra. trial. See generally, Davis v. Alabama, 596 F.2d at 1221-1223. (Footnote omitted.)

Id. at 797. See also DAVIS v. ALABAMA, 596 F.2d 1214 (5th Cir. 1979), vacated as moot, 446 U.S. 903 (1980); UNITED STATES v. HEARST, 466 F.Supp. 1068 (N.D. Cal. 1978). Interestingly, a footnote in RUMMEL specifically distinguished between the court's finding of ineffective assistance of counsel and possible malpractice, as follows:

> This court's findings and rationale pertain only to the constitutional guarantees of

effective assistance of counsel, and are not meant to address the issues that would be presented by a civil suit for damages for malpractice.

498 F.Supp. at 798 n.4.

FREEMAN v. RUBIN, 318 So.2d 540, 543 (Fla. 3d DCA 19751, and, in particular, the statement in that case that "a habeas corpus proceeding is , res judicata of all issues of law and facts involved therein," does not change the result here. First, that statement is dicta rather than the holding of the case. Secondly, the decision cites to CRANE v. HAYES, 253 So.2d 435 (Fla. 19711, as the authority for the statement. CRANE was a child custody case involving sequential habeas corpus proceedings Most importantly, CRANE had the required to obtain custody. identity of the parties, issues, and standard of proof in its various habeas corpus proceedings. Those all-important identities are lacking here. In addition, CRANE revolved around special considerations relevant to child custody situations which have no bearing here. For example, the court determined that when child custody is involved, a habeas corpus action, while retaining its form as a special proceeding, takes on the nature of an equitable proceeding. Thus, CRANE does not support the broad statement made in FREEMAN.

Moreover, in FREEMAN, the petitioner was granted habeas corpus. The findings on which that petition was granted were then deemed conclusive in the petitioner's ensuing malpractice action. In the instant case, the Plaintiff's petition was denied. The Defendants, however, suggest that the findings on

which that petition was denied are conclusive, controlling, and will foreclose Plaintiff's resort to any other legal remedies, including this action in negligence based on the Defendants' alleged malpractice. FREEMAN provides a faulty premise for this suggestion since the court's actions in FREEMAN were to further the petitioner's cause, not to give preclusive effect to the habeas corpus order. Of course, FREEMAN was decided several years before this Court decided ROMANO.

Finally, while Defendants acknowledge at page 21 of their brief that the standard of proof and elements of proof in a habeas proceeding and a legal malpractice case differ, they urge this Court to disregard the differences, relying on three cases. Among them is MCCORD v. BAILEY, 636 F.2d 606 (D.C. Cir. 1980), which holds that the legal standard for ineffective assistance of counsel in a coram nobis proceeding and in a subsequent legal malpractice proceeding were equivalent. This position, however, has not been adopted in Florida and is unsound. The better position was included in RUMMEL v. ESTELLE, supra, where the court recognized that a distinction exists between findings and rationales relevant dealing proceeding with the to а constitutional guarantee to effective assistance of counsel and a civil suit for damages due to legal malpractice.

Contrary to Defendants' assertion, the distinction between a habeas proceeding and a civil malpractice suit involves more than a difference in theory or elements of proof. Clearly, the theory and proof are different, but also there is a difference in the relief being sought and, very importantly, the standard of proof

as explained above. Neither the factual findings nor ultimate outcome in the habeas case should collaterally estop Plaintiff in the present lawsuit.

C. <u>The D fendants Are Not Immune from Liability under the</u> <u>"Error-in-Judqment" Rule</u>.

Defendants argue that if this Court determines that the mutuality of parties requirement should be abandoned, either across-the-board or in this particular case, the findings of fact entered by the federal habeas court preclude Plaintiff's claim and entitle Defendants to summary judgment. Of course, Plaintiff disagrees.

The elements of a legal malpractice cause of action are: (1) the attorney's employment, (2) his neglect of a reasonable duty; and (3) that such neglect resulted in and was the proximate cause of loss to the client. KYLE v. McFADDEN, 443 So.2d 497 (1st DCA 1984); DRAWDY v. SAPP, 365 So.2d 461 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); WEINER v. MORENO, 271 So.2d 217 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973). There is no issue as to the attorney's employment in this case. However, the facts relevant to neglect of a reasonable duty by the attorney and the damages resulting from this neglect are in dispute.

As to the Defendants' duty, the issues center on the reasonableness of the Defendants' decision not to introduce the tape recordings. The Defendants claim that that decision was a

tactical one for which they are immune from liability. In support of this position, the Defendants assert that Zeidwig knew of the tapes and had discussed their content in detail with Plaintiff and other persons but had made a tactical decision not to use them (R34-35). Plaintiff's position is significantly different. The testimony, depositions, and affidavits of Plaintiff, Hmielewski, Schultz, Dodge, and Pickett consistently show that Zeidwig never reached the tactical decision stage since he had erroneously concluded that the tapes were illegal under Florida law and inadmissible and had, therefore, refused to listen to them and risk being prosecuted for a felony. Zeidwig never got to the point of deciding whether the evidence should be used since he was operating under the belief that it could **not** be used because it had been illegally obtained. In fact, certain of the federal court's findings, omitted by Defendants at pages 4 and 5 of their brief, support Plaintiff on this issue. (See Petitioners' Appendix at 9-11, findings numbered 11, 13, 14).

It is Plaintiff's position that the tape recordings were legally obtained and admissible. Minimal research as to the admissibility of the tapes herein would have revealed \$934.03(2)(c), Fla. Stat., which provides:

> (c) It is lawful under this chapter for a law enforcement officer or a person acting under the direction of a law enforcement officer to intercept a wire or oral communication when such person is a party to the communication or one of the parties to the communication has given prior consent to such interception and the purpose of such interception is to obtain evidence of a criminal act.

Although there was a possibility that Plaintiff's status as a law enforcement officer might have been questioned, the value of the tapes as the basis of his defense far outweighed this possibility. Without the tapes, Plaintiff's defense was reduced to a credibility contest between Plaintiff, as a defendant in a criminal proceeding, and Hoyt, an agent of the DEA. The tapes would have enhanced the credibility of the Plaintiff to the detriment of Hoyt's testimony.

In any event, any violation of Florida law would have been irrelevant in the federal proceeding since federal law governs the admissibility of tapes in federal criminal cases and, under federal law, Plaintiff could lawfully record conversations to which he was a party so long as the purpose of the recording was not to commit a crime. UNITED STATES v. BUTERA, 677 F.2d 1376 (11th Cir. 1982, <u>mert. denied</u>, 459 U.S. 1108 (1983); UNITED STATES v. HORTON 601 F.2d 319 (7th Cir. 1979); <u>cert. denied</u>, 444 U.S. 937 (1979); UNITED STATES v. NELLIGAN, 573 F.2d 251 (5th Cir. 1978); 18 <u>U.S.C.</u> §2511(2)(d). Thus, federal law would not have prohibited admission of the tapes and a more restrictive state law would not affect this admissibility in the federal forum. UNITED STATES v. BUTERA, <u>supra</u>; UNITED STATES v. HORTON, supra.

It is one thing to state, as did the Court in DILLARD SMITH CONSTRUCTION CO. v. GREENE, 337 So.2d 841, 843 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), upon which Defendants rely, that a lawyer does not guarantee the efficacy of his advice. However, unlike in the GREENE case, here Zeidwig's advice was downright wrong, and

eviscerated Plaintiff's defense. Zeidwig did not make a tactical decision not to introduce the tape recordings. Rather, he flatly refused to investigate his client's defense both factually and legally. This constituted the basis for malpractice. <u>See</u> RUMMEL v. ESTELLE, <u>supra</u>. <u>See also</u> DAVIS v. ALABAMA, 596 F.2d 1214 (5th Cir. 1979), <u>vacated as moot</u>, 446 U.S. 903 (1980); UNITED STATES v. HEARST, 466 F.Supp. 1068 (N.D. Cal. 1978). At the very least, the circumstances surrounding Zeidwig's refusal to use the tape created substantial issues of material fact which could not properly have been resolved on summary judgment.

POINT II

FINAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS NOT WARRANTED BY ANY ALLEGED INABILITY ON THE PART OF PLAINTIFF TO PROVE HIS CASE.

Apparently independent of their argument regarding the application of collateral estoppel, Defendants arque alternatively that they were entitled to the entry of final summary judgment because, under applicable evidentiary rules, Plaintiff could not have proven his case. Defendants' argument is without merit because, by insisting that Plaintiff would have been required to prove the contents of the tape recording in order to sustain his claim, Defendants misperceive the issue here. In fact, Defendants' argument confirms the fact that the result at trial hinged on a credibility issue between Plaintiff and Agent Hoyt.

Plaintiff would not have been checkmated by a hearsay argument in this case. Rather, he would be able to demonstrate the existence of the tape recordings by the direct testimony of parties to the taped conversation as well as subsequent listeners. The hearsay rule would only be applicable if Plaintiff attempted to prove the truth of the contents of the tapes. <u>See §90.801</u>, <u>Fla</u>, <u>Stat</u>. This is not what Plaintiff is attempting to do. He would merely be trying to prove the fact that the words were spoken in the conversation between him and Agent Hoyt.

Obviously, the best evidence of the conversation would be the tape recordings but, since Plaintiff destroyed them pursuant to the Defendant's instruction, testimony is the best available form of evidence and, therefore, satisfies the best evidence See S90.954, Fla. Stat. Plaintiff was a party to the rule. conversations and can testify to what he said and what he was told, not to prove the truth of those matters but to prove that certain things were said. At least there is a factual issue as to the significance of these words, not their truth or falsity but what significance they would have had had these tape recordings been introduced before either of those two prior trial It would certainly be inequitable now to allow the juries. Defendants to argue that the best evidence is no longer available it the Defendants' advice which when was caused the unavailability.

\$

14

As a result of Zeidwig's malfeasance, the trial pitted Plaintiff's word against that of Agent Hoyt. Ward could testify

as to his conversation with Hoyt. Even if, as the Defendants suggest, the other witnesses were limited to testifying only as to the existence of a tape recording of the conversation with Hoyt, as opposed to its contents, this would lend further support to Plaintiff's testimony in the credibility battle with Hoyt. Any problem with the memory of these witnesses as to precisely when they heard the recording would go to the weight or credibility of their testimony, not its admissibility. Factual issues might arise as to the date of the taped conversation and when it was heard, but this would not render the testimony inadmissible or result in Plaintiff being unable to prove his Thus, this case is totally unlike DUGGAN v. STATE, 189 case. So.2d 890 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966), upon which Defendants rely, for in that case the issue was the content of the tapes, unlike here.

Under well-settled standards, Defendants were not entitled to summary judgment on the basis argued here. A party moving for summary judgment has the burden of demonstrating that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. HOLL v. TALCOTT, 191 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1966). Summary judgment is designed to meet a situation where the salient facts are clearly not in issue, and the controversy is purely one of law to be decided on undisputed YOST v. MIAMI TRANSIT CO., 66 So.2d 214 (Fla. 1953); facts. HARRIS V. LEWIS STATE BANK, 436 So,2d 338 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). If there are issues of fact and the slightest doubt remains, summary judgment cannot be granted. HARRISON V. MCCOURTNEY, 148 So.2d 53 (Fla. 1962). Moreover, even where the facts are undisputed, issues as to the inferences to be drawn from those

4

facts may preclude summary judgment. SCHMIDT v. BOWL AMERICA FLORIDA, INC. 358 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). In sum, if the evidence raises even the slightest doubt on any issue of material fact, if it is conflicting, or if it will permit different reasonable inferences, it should be submitted to the trier of fact. WILLIAMS v. LAKE CITY, 62 So.2d 732 (Fla. 1960). Based on these principles, Defendants' critique of the testimony of other witnesses whom Plaintiff could have called does not establish their entitlement to summary judgment.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing Argument, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court either decline to exercise its discretionary review, or to answer the certified question in the affirmative.

35

۹.